
 

 

Agenda for a meeting of the Health and Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 

Wednesday, 23 February 2022 at 4.30 pm in 

Council Chamber - City Hall, Bradford 

 
Members of the Committee – Councillors 

LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

THE BRADFORD SOUTH 
INDEPENDENTS 

Greenwood 
Humphreys 
Godwin 
Berry 
Iqbal 

Glentworth 
 

Griffiths Hargreaves 
Majkowski 

 
Alternates: 

LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

THE BRADFORD SOUTH 
INDEPENDENTS 

Akhtar 
H Khan 
Lintern 
Mir 
Mohammed 

P Clarke 
Sullivan 
 

J Sunderland J Clarke 

    
NON VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS 

Susan Crowe Bradford District Assembly Health and Wellbeing Forum 

Trevor Ramsay i2i patient involvement Network, Bradford District NHS 

Foundation Care Trust Healthwatch Bradford and District 

Helen Rushworth Healthwatch Bradford and District 

Notes: 

 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 
contacting the Agenda contact shown below. 

 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 
Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded. 

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item. 

 

From:      To: 
Parveen Akhtar 
City Solicitor 
Agenda Contact: Asad Shah 
Phone: 01274 432280; E-Mail: asad.shah@bradford.gov.uk   

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS 
 
 
1.   ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34) 

 
The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.   
 
 

 

2.   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 
 
(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution) 
 
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest. 
 
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting. 
 
Notes: 
 
(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 

discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner. 

 
(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 

must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.   

 
(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 

disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity. 

 
(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 

Standing Order 44. 
 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 
Recommended – 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2021 be 
signed as a correct record (previously circulated). 
 

 



 

 

(Asad Shah  – 01274 432280) 
 

 
4.   INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution) 
 
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.   
 
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.   
 
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.   
 
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.   
 

(Asad Shah - 01274 432280) 
 
 

 

5.   REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Any referrals that have been made to this Committee up to and including 
the date of publication of this agenda will be reported at the meeting. 
 
 
 

 

B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES 
 
 
6.   BORN IN BRADFORD 

 
The Director, Better Start Bradford Innovation Hub & Bradford 
Inequalities Research Unit, will attend the Committee to give a 
presentation: Born in Bradford research findings on the health and 
wellbeing of Bradford’s children:  A focus on the impact of Covid-19, 
and experiences of adolescence. 
 

(Caroline Coombes 01274 432313) 
 
 

 

7.   UPDATE ON THE 0-19 PUBLIC HEALTH CHILDREN'S SERVICE 
UPDATE 
 
The report of the Director of Public Health (Document “T”) provides 
an overview of the 0-19 Public Health service and informs Members of: 
 

1. Background to the 0-19 Public Health Children’s Service 
2. The needs of children and young people locally 

1 - 10 



 

 

3. Service reviews conducted during 2020-2021 
4. Current service delivery  
5. Future commissioning arrangements  

 
Recommended – 
 
It is recommended that Members note the contents of the report 
and continued progress to improve the 0-19 service during the 
remainder of the contract (to April 2023) and for re-
commissioning of the service.  
 

(Duncan Cooper - 01274 434289) 
 
 

8.   HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 
 
A work planning discussion will take place on the Committee’s work 
programme for the remainder of the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 
The views of Members are requested. 
 

(Caroline Coombes 01274 432313) 
 
 

 

 
THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER 
 



 
 

 

Report of the Director of Public Health to the meeting of 
the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee to be held on 23 February 2022 

T 
 
 

Subject:  UPDATE ON THE 0-19 PUBLIC HEALTH CHILDREN’S SERVICE UPDATE 
 
 
 

Summary statement:  
 

This report provides an overview of the 0-19 Public Health service and informs 

Members of: 

1. Background to the 0-19 Public Health Children’s Service 

2. The needs of children and young people locally 

3. Service reviews conducted during 2020-2021 

4. Current service delivery  

5. Future commissioning arrangements  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Sarah Muckle 
Director of Public Health 

Portfolio:   
 
Healthy People and Places 
 

Report Contact: Duncan Cooper 
Phone: (01274) 434289 
E-mail: 

duncan.cooper@bradford.gov.uk  

   
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7/

mailto:duncan.cooper@bradford.gov.uk


Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

  

1. Summary 
 

This report provides an overview of the 0-19 Public Health service and informs Members 

of: 

1. Background to the 0-19 Public Health Children’s Service 

2. The needs of children and young people locally 

3. Service reviews conducted during 2020-2021 

4. Current service delivery  

5. Future commissioning arrangements  

 
 
2. Background 
 

2.1 0-19 Public Health Children’s Service 

 

Good health, wellbeing and resilience are vital for all our children now and for the future of 

society. There is good evidence about what is important to achieve this through improving 

children and young people’s public health. This is brought together in the national Healthy 

Child Programme 0 to 19, which includes a health visitors service, a school nursing 

service, and also in Bradford Distinct an oral health promotion team.  

The Council as an authority, and the Director of Public Health (DPH) each have specific 

statutory duties relating to the delivery of the 0-19 Public Health Childrens service (0-19 

service) and its specific mandated functions within this include the five health checks for 

young children, the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) and district wide 

Oral Health surveys; continued delivery of such must therefore be secured. 

The Healthy Child Programme provides a national framework to support collaborative 

work and more integrated delivery. It aims to:  

 help parents, carers or guardians develop and sustain a strong bond with 

children  

 support parents, carers or guardians in keeping children healthy and safe 

and reaching their full potential  

 protect children from serious disease, through screening and immunisation  

 reduce childhood obesity by promoting healthy eating and physical activity  

 promote oral health  

 support resilience and positive maternal and family mental health  

 support the development of healthy relationships and good sexual and 

reproductive health  

Page 2



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

 

 identify health and wellbeing issues early, so support and early interventions 

can be provided in a timely manner  

 make sure children are prepared for and supported in all childcare, early 

years and education settings and are especially supported to be ‘ready to 

learn at 2 and ready for school by 5. 

 
 
3. Report issues 
 

3.1 Current contract 

In March 2018, a 0-19 Public Health Commissioning Board was established with key 

partners to oversee the development of a new service specification for Public Health 0-19 

Children’s Service. Following a successful evaluation of the bids received, the accepted 

the offer from Bradford District Care Foundation Trust (BDCFT) and the Contract 

commenced 1st August 2019.  

The new Contract was in early stages of delivery and transformation when the Covid-19 

pandemic was declared having significant impact on plans and delivery (to maintain safety 

and core business). The new service was also predicated on an established network of 

integrated Family Hubs across the District (with social care), which been delayed by the 

pandemic.  

The 0-19 Service has experienced other challenges during the current contract 

commencing 2019: 

• Reduction in overall value of the new 0-19 contract in 2019. 

• Staffing challenges (caused by recruitment issues and a national shortages of 

experienced health visitors and school nurses)  

• Rising demand in the need for health input to statutory safeguarding meetings 

 

3.2 Bradford District – children and young people’s needs 

Overall, there are high levels of health needs for children and young people in the district, 

with large inequalities between areas. Bradford has high levels of deprivation, and almost 

a quarter of children are living in low income families in 2016. 

• Many children of Bradford have an unfair start in life, a large proportion live in 

poverty, and many families are financially and food insecure. 

• Many children suffer poor outcomes - they are more likely to die in infancy and 

childhood than other children in England.  

Page 3



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

• During pregnancy (or immediately afterwards), two in 5 of their mums will have 

some symptoms of depression and anxiety and more than 1 in 10 will have 

moderate/severe symptoms.  

• In some wards one in four children are not up to date with their immunisations. 

• By age 5, many of our children are starting to present with very poor oral health. 

• At year 6 (ages 10/11), 40% of children are overweight or obese, and this figure is 

rising.  

• There are high levels of unmet need for low level and universal mental health 

support. 

• Safeguarding and child protection needs have been increasing year on year, 

with steep increases in the number of children with child protection. There has been 

an increase in safeguarding and child protection from 2016/17, with a particularly 

large rise in initial child protection conferences. There are 86 per 10,000 children 

aged 0-4 are in care, with a variation across wards gong up to 172 per 10,000.  

• Special educational needs: In 2020, 18,694 0-25 year olds in Bradford District 

had an identified educational health care plan or a special need. There were 1,377 

children with autism known to schools in 2020 (13.8/1,000 pupils). 

• These disadvantages are not equal, with children living in areas of high deprivation 

and those from an ethnic minority background more likely to have an unsafe and 

unfair start in life. 

• The Covid-19 research completed by Born in Bradford has highlighted how the 

response to the pandemic has exacerbated inequalities: an estimated 1 in 3 of 

families across Bradford were pushed into financial insecurity during the pandemic 

(with 1 in 10 experiencing severe food insecurity (having to regularly skip meals). 

Children’s levels of physical activity have also dropped dramatically.  

3.3 Service review 

Bradford is a young city, with 117,000 children and young people aged 5-19. The 0-19 

teams work across the education and health sectors to prevent ill health and improve 

health and wellbeing for children and young people.  

During 2020 and 2021 Public Health, with partners, undertook a demand and needs 

appraisal of children 0-4 years and services (which included the health visiting teams 

within the 0-19 service) ; and the public health school nursing service (also within the 0-19 

service).  

3.3.1 - 0-4 services (health visiting) 

A review of 0-5 services (led by CBMDC children’s services with Public Health, BDFCT 

and other partners) looked at an overall early years workforce, strategic outcomes and 

Page 4



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

tiered delivery model (of which the 0-19 service is an integral part). In terms of research 

the early years – from pre-birth until starting school – is a critical period in terms of a 

child's development, as they form bonds with their parents, develop language skills and 

other cognitive functions, and establish behavioural patterns 

Promoting and securing universal outcomes for young children is vital for a:  

• healthy live birth with adults prepared and ready for parenthood, and  

• healthy, enquiring and secure child from birth to their 5th birthday and beyond, 

with confident and aspirant parents 

The implications of the wider 0-4 services review for the 0-19 service health visiting team 

were that it continued to work on a 4-locality basis within a tiered model. This sees health 

visitors, staff nurses and nursery nurses working specifically in Safeguarding, Early Help  

and Universal tiers; working closely with the Local Authority and Public Health 

Commissioners.  

BDCFT as the provider of health visiting services for 0-4 years have taken a number of 

steps to mitigate the risks posed by the pandemic and national workforce challenges, 

including: 

• A community children’s services Strategy Team at BDCFT established to ease the 

impact of the amount of safeguarding strategy discussions and social care enquires on 

the health visiting and school nursing service.  

• A recruitment plan to increase the skill mix within the health visiting service to ease the 

workload of the health visitors particularly in the universal tier. A targeted advertising 

campaign for difficult to recruit to posts – Health Visitor. 

 

3.3.2 School nursing 

School nursing has a unique role, with a holistic overview of children and young people’s 

physical and mental health and wellbeing, and additional needs and vulnerabilities. Their 

role in relation to schools enables them to play and important prevention role, identify 

issues and support or refer early. 

The aim of the school nursing review was to:  

• Review the role of the current school nursing  

• Look at other services/roles available in schools to wellbeing 

• Consult with the school nursing team 

• Draw on alternative models across the region 

In particular the review looked at the increase in safeguarding referrals over recent years 

which came at a time of workforce pressures nationally (below).   

Page 5



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

 

The review also looked at the holistic needs of CYP as supported by the school nursing 

service in schools (below) and in relation to other support services.   

 

Three partner workshops were held in the summer of 2021 to help: 

• Define a revised core model of delivery for school nursing  

• Clarify the school nursing service input to safeguarding pathways and support for 

vulnerable children and families 

• Clarifying referral pathways and packages of care for school children  

 

Page 6



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Key findings from the school nurse review and workshops were: 

• Further clarity of the school nursing service offer was required for health promotion 

within schools, re-designing of individual health needs assessments at key points of 

school life (primary to secondary transition and early teenage years (13/14yrs) 

• Priority issues identified by workshop participants were:  

• Drugs and alcohol (broad view also covering NPSD/Caffeine etc..) as young 

people have also been reporting this as a response to COVID and lock down 

pressures and anxiety.  

• Sleep issues. 

• Mental health (and promotion of a range of well being support services and 

specialists). 

• Obesity (including eating disorders identification and referral). 

• School nurse input to whole school approaches to well being (supporting the Living 

Well School offer) - School-level needs assessments. 

• A revised approach to safeguarding and specifically the mandated health input to 

safeguarding meetings (as it was felt that safeguarding processes has become too 

reliant on a single team (school nursing)).    

• Better engagement and communication with young people and communication of 

the school nursing role. 

• Rethinking the role of mental health support as multi-disciplinary mental health 

support teams and mental health champions now also work with schools.   

• Improved training for the school nursing team across mental health support. 

 

The key recommendations from the school nursing review were as follows:  

 

Develop a robust workforce development and training plan to look at supporting the 

service delivery, using skill mix and ‘growing their own’. 

Develop assemblies on agreed priority areas, as a universal service, with drop ins 

dependant on the school need. Clarify this enhanced offer.  

Clarification of mental health support roles and responsibilities and referral pathways. 

0-19 service to be involved in the development of the mental health one-trusted 

referral pathway (and to communicate this across school settings when pathway 

redesign is complete). 

Page 7



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Safeguarding: Strengthening a system-level approach is required, with multi-agency 

agreement on the way forward (explore strengthening the integrated front door to 

triage and support safeguarding meetings).  

Further develop communications materials for parents, CYP, schools and health 

professionals.  

Use intelligence more effectively to understand school-level needs and plan service 

delivery.   

Ensure indicators of process and outcomes are appropriate for the service priorities & 

align to universal outcomes framework for Bradford.  

 

3.4 Service update (February 2022) 

The 0-19 service activated its Business Continuity Plan (BCP) in July 2021 due to 

workforce issues. Since then and continuing into February 2022, there has been a gradual 

return to face to face services with face to face 6-week baby contact and antenatal 

contacts reintroduced.  

There have been additional pressures from the latest Covid Omicron wave with the 

workforce affected by sickness and isolation policies.   

Throughout the operation of the BCP vulnerable families have continued to receive all 6 

universal contacts. Additional support during the pandemic meant 50% of all families 

continued to receive an antenatal contact, with over 97% receiving a birth visit face to face 

and over 90% a 6 week contact although this has been largely virtually.  

The 1 and 2 year health visitor reviews have also been continued throughout the 

pandemic, although the 24-30 month review was affected with some children being seen 

outside.  

Currently, performance figures for the health visiting service (October 2021 – December 

2021) shows: 

• 95% of families received new birth visits within 14 days of birth 

• 95% of babies received the 6-8-week health review  

• 47% of babies are total or partially breastfed at 6-8 weeks (Public health have just 

re-commissioned public health breastfeeding services to increase this uptake 

figure) 

• 91% of new mothers are screened for mental health issues and offered support if 

required 

Page 8



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Both the Health Visiting Service and the School Nursing Service are continuing to recruit 

nurses, to ensure that the Health Visitors and School Nurses are able to focus on complex 

casework (Safeguarding, Vulnerability, need & risk) as well as prevention and universal 

activities.  

There is now a full mobilisation plan in place to increase public health nurses and other 0-

19 service roles across the service focussing on the 5-19 school nurse offer. The plans 

will see a range of practice developments including: 

• Embedding additional safeguarding roles to support initial children’s social care 

requests 

• Implementation of a ‘chat health’ service to improve access to confidential support 

for older children 

• A revised duty service to improve swift referral and sharing of health information 

with other statutory partners.  

• A new model of whole school, whole class opportunities for schools to access 

health promotion and public health advice.   

 

3.5 Future commissioning arrangements 

Since August 2019 Bradford District Care Trust have held the contract and delivered  0-19 

services for Bradford District families, children and young people. The contract ends in 

March 2023 and the Public Health Department within Bradford Council intend to develop 

an updated specification for the service. This will incorporate the findings of recent service 

reviews (described above), and an updated healthy child programme with new 

commissioning guidance available from Public Health England in 2021. This service will 

still include health visiting and school nursing services, and oral health promotion teams. It 

will also include the mandated functions of five health checks for young children, the 

National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) and a district wide oral health survey; 

but will also include a broader range of functions fitting with the needs of the Bradford 

District population.  

The Council’s Public Health team, alongside the Council’s Procurement Service, will work 

with partners to develop an updated service specification and will lead procurement of the 

service for a new contract. The new contract is estimated to commence April 2023.  

 
4. Options 
 
Members may wish to comment on the contents of the report 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

5. Recommendations 
 

5.1 It is recommended that Members note the contents of the report and continued 

progress to improve the 0-19 service during the remainder of the contract (to April 

2023) and for re-commissioning of the service.  

 
6. Background documents 
 
 None 
 
7. Not for publication documents 
 
 None 
 
8. Appendices 
 
 None 
 

Page 10


	Agenda
	7 UPDATE ON THE 0-19 PUBLIC HEALTH CHILDREN'S SERVICE UPDATE

